THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 10 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 85,652

HOWARD VINCENT DECK,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEVEN **J.** GUARDIANO SR. ASST. ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar **#0602396** 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (**904**) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent (defendant) was convicted of 3 counts of sexual battery on a child, 1 count of attempted sexual battery on a child, and two counts of lewd, lascivious or indecent acts on a child, Defendant was sentenced to concurrent sentences of life imprisonment with a mandatory term of 25 years. The primary issue at trial and on appeal was the admissibility <u>under federal constitutional law</u> of a portion of the investigative interview wherein defendant confessed to the above crimes in detail. There is no factual dispute that defendant committed these acts.

On December 22, 1994, the Fifth District Court of Appeal (5th DCA) issued a decision which reversed defendant's convictions and sentences and remanded for a for a new trial. The 5th DCA held that its decision was controlled by the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla.), cert. denied 498 U.S. 855, 111 S.Ct. 152, 112 L.Ed.2d 118 (1990), which construed the right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution (App. A).

On February 10, 1995, the 5th DCA granted the State's motion for rehearing, withdrew its previous decision, and issued a unanimous decision affirming defendant's convictions and sentences based on <u>Davis v. United States</u>, ___ U.S. ___, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994). In its decision, the 5th DCA expressly noted that defendant had not made any argument based on the right against self-incrimination enunciated in Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution (App. B).

On March 24, 1995, the 5th DCA granted defendant's motion for rehearing,

withdrew its previous decision, and issued a decision reversing defendant's convictions and sentences. This time the 5th DCA premised its decision on <u>Travlor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992), notwithstanding that appellant "failed to raise the argument available to him under Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution at the trial level or in his appellate briefs. .." (App. C).

A timely motion for rehearing and certification was denied on April 24, 1995.

On May 2, 1995, the State timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court and a motion to stay mandate.

SUMMARY OF JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

The 5th DCA's decision expressly construes the right to remain silent provisions of the state and federal constitutions (Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.; U.S. Const. amend. V). In addition, the 5th DCA's decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court that constitutional issues in a criminal trial may be waived. In light of the above, and the undisputable fact concerning the 5th DCA's "equivocalness" in reaching a decision, discretionary jurisdiction should be granted. See Art. 5, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) & (iv).

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE 5TH DCA'S DECISION EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution. See also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii). In the instant case, the 5th DCA expressly construed the right to remain silent under both state and federal constitutions.

As pointed out by the 5th DCA in its decision, the question raised by the appeal was; "Did Deck's equivocal invocation of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent — I can't talk about it anymore — require the interrogating officer to terminate further questioning except that which was designed to clarify the suspect's wishes?" See Deck v. State, No. 93-2623 (Fla. 5th DCA March 24, 1995) at pages 2-3. The 5th DCA noted that prior to Davis v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1 994), the interrogation of a defendant following his equivocal invocation of his right to remain silent would be held violative of the Fifth Amendment. However, as a result of Davis (which did not involve an equivocal request to remain silent, but an equivocal request for counsel), the 5th DCA held that the Fifth Amendment right to remain silent does not require officers to ask clarifying questions, especially where the record clearly shows that the defendant had been informed of his rights immediately prior to questioning and knew exactly what was required to stop

further questioning.

Thus, the Fifth DCA construed the right to remain silent provision of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution as **not** requiring law enforcement officers to ask clarifying questions in response to a defendant's equivocal invocation of his right to remain silent. There can be no dispute that the 5th DCA's decision (in fact, all three of them) expressly construed a provision of the federal constitution.

After completing its express construction of the federal constitutional right to remain silent provision, the 5th DCA then expressly construed Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution (notwithstanding the 5th DCA's express acknowledgement that defendant had failed to raise this argument at the trial level or in his appellate briefs). The 5th DCA expressly construed Article I, section 9 so as to require officers to immediately stop upon an equivocal invocation of the right to remain silent. See Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992). Thus, it is clear that the 5th DCA's decision expressly construes a provision of the Florida Constitution.

The 5th DCA has expressly construed provisions of both the state and federal constitutions. Because of the important nature of such a construction, especially in light of the persuasive authority and practical reasoning of <u>Davis</u>, and the effect on criminal prosecution of this case and cases similarly situated, this Honorable Court should exercise its discretion to review the decision.

Finally, it is pointed out that a sister court, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, has certified a question as a matter of great public importance involving the **other** issue this Court may wish to confront:

DO THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED BY THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT IN <u>DAVIS</u> APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF TRAYLOR?

See State v. Owen, 20 Fla. L. Weekly 0963 (Fla. 4th DCA April 1 9, 1995)(App. D). The undersigned is authorized to represent that the State is presently seeking resolution of this question in the Florida Suprems Court. Therefore, it would be appropriate for the Florida Supreme Court to accept review of this case as well. See Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

POINT 2

THE 5TH DCA'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR OF THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

Petitioner also seeks discretionary review with this Honorable Court under another provision of Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution which provides that the Florida Supreme Court may review a district court of appeal decision if it "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." See also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). In the instant case, the 5th DCA's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the well-known rule of law that constitutional errors which are not of a fundamental character are waived unless timely and properly objected to in the trial court, Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981); Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331, 333 (Fla.1978)("An improper comment on a defendant's exercise of the right to remain silent is constitutional error, but it is not fundamental error."); Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So, 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970).

On page 4 of the decision sought to be reviewed, the 5th DCA expressly and directly acknowledged that the defendant "failed to raise the argument available to him under Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution at the trial level or in his appellate briefs..." Notwithstanding this apparent waiver, the 5th DCA erroneously considered and applied state constitutional law under <u>Traylor v, State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992). Conflict with this most basic rule of appellate practice is readily apparent. Therefore supreme court jurisdiction on this basis should be granted. <u>See Hardee v.</u>

State, 534 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1988) (supreme court accepted review based on a finding that a "fair implication" of the previous district court of appeal cases was contrary to the holding of the district court decision under review.); Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981) ("discussion of the legal principles which the [district] court applied provides a sufficient basis for a petition for conflict review. It is not necessary that the court expressly identify conflicting district court or supreme court decisions in its opinion to create an 'express' conflict under Section 3(b)(3).").

The 5th DCA's decision is in express and direct conflict with not only Ray, Clark and Sanford, but a plethora of supreme court and district court cases that have relied upon that most basic principle of appellate practice that constitutional errors may be waived even if the defendant would have prevailed. See e.g., Monsour v. State, 572 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (failure to raise that defendant's sentence would be a violation of Article X, section 9 was waived notwithstanding that "basic fairness" doctrine requiring that a person should be sentenced for a crime in accordance with the law as it existed on the date of the offense).

Conflict also can be shown in another manner. In its decision, the 5th DCA stated:

<u>Traylor</u> expressly supports the argument of the appellant, raised by his motion for rehearing, that a fundamental right created by the state constitution must be respected even if no similar right is recognized by the federal courts. <u>Traylor</u> at 983.

Deck v. State, No. 93-2623 (Fla 5th DCA March 24, 1995) at page 4. It is pointed out that the 5th DCA's citation to page 983 is not to the holding of the majority

opinion but a concurrence in part and a dissenting in part.

The above quotation seems to imply that the failure to raise this issue is one of fundamental error, and therefore may be raised regardless of it **not** being raised below or in the briefs submitted on appeal. This also conflicts with well-established case law that an issue regarding the right to remain silent is **not** fundamental error. **Clark**, 363 So. 2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978) ("An improper comment on defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent is constitutional error, but it is not fundamental error). See also Harris v. State, 564 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)(right to remain silent encompassed within Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination is personal to the defendant; objection by codefendant does not preserve the issue for appellate review); Noble v. State, 543 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989)(State's playing of taperecorded statement in which defendant invoked his right to remain silent was not fundamental error). Ineffective assistance of trial counsel or appellate counsel to raise an issue or make a specific legal argument does not constitute fundamental error. In addition, the ineffective assistance of trial counsel or appellate counsel in raising this issue does **not** amount to fundamental error.

The effect of allowing the 5th DCA's decision to stand without permitting discretionary review would be devastating. The 5th DCA decision ignored a most basic rule of appellate law (waiver of constitutional error). It should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should grant discretionary jurisdiction because the 5TH DCA's decision expressly construes a provision of the state and federal constitutions and because the 5th DCA's decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions on the same question of law out of this Court and other district courts of appeal. Therefore this Court should exercise jurisdiction to considers the merits of petitioner's argument.