FILED

SID J. WHITE

THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

MAY_ 26 1995 CLERK, S By_ Canter Deputy Clark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.:

HOWARD VINCENT DECK,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

RICHARD G. CANINA THE LAW FIRM OF MITCHELL & CANINA, P.A. 930 S. Harbor City Blvd. Suite 500 Melbourne, Florida 32901 (407) 729-6749 Florida Bar #: 0503517 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent adopts the Statement of the Case and Facts as set forth in Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

SUMMARY OF REPLY TO JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

The final decision of the Fifth DCA was decided under the doctrine of <u>stare decisis</u>, in applying the principle of law set forth in <u>Travlor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992) to the facts in Respondent's case which were substantially the same. The decision of the Fifth DCA followed the binding precedent of the <u>Travlor</u>, court, and did not expressly construe the constitutional right of the Respondent to remain silent under Article 1, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution.

The decision of the Fifth DCA does not expressly or directly conflict with decisions of this Court or any other District Court of Appeal constitutional issue that in a criminal trial can be waived when not properly objected to.

This Court in <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978), set forth in detail the basis for the rule that a reviewing Court will not generally consider points raised for the first time on appeal as follows:

> "The requirement of contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity ta correct it at an early stage of the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually."

In the case <u>sub iudice</u> the Defendant objected to the admission of his statements made during his custodial interrogation at every stage of the trial proceeding, to wit:(1) At a pre-trial Motion to Suppress Hearing; (2) At trial just prior to the Court admitting the statement into evidence; and, (3) At a post-trial hearing on Defendant's Motion for a New Trial. Albeit, the objection was primarily framed and argued under Federal Constitutional Fifth Amendment Rights of the However, the Federal Appellate decisions were at that accused. time in accord with the decisions of the Florida Supreme Court in construing the Defendant's Fifth Amendment Rights as set forth in Owen v. State, 560 So.2d 207 (Fla.), cert. denied 498 U.S. 855, 111 S.Ct. 152, 112 L. Ed. 2d 118 (1990), and the principle of law announced in Travlor, supra, interpreting under the doctrine of primacy this same right provided Respondent under Article 1, Section 9, Florida Constitution. The five-to-four majority decision in <u>Davis v. United States,</u> ____ U.S. _, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed. 2d 362. (1994), which intrinsically altered the prior Federal decisions regarding this rule was issued on June 24, 1994 and was not raised by the petitioner until after the opinion of the Fifth DCA was rendered on December 22, 1994, by way of Motion for Rehearing.

The trial Judge in this case was on notice of the Defendant's objection at every critical stage of the proceeding and was provided with opportunity to correct his ruling.

Under these circumstances the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal to address this suppression issue under Defendant's belated argument derived from Article 1, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution was fully warranted.

-3-

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DCA DID NOT EXPRESSLY CONSTRUE A PROVISION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

The Respondent's position is that the Fifth DCA interpreted his right against self-incrimination as enunciated in Article 1, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution as construed by this Court in <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957, 966 (Fla. 1992), in which this Court stated:

> "Under Section 9, if the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin or, if it has begun, must immediately stop."

The decision of the Fifth DCA in this case was following the binding precedent of this court in <u>Traylor</u>, supra, and the Court did not expressly construe a provision of the state constitution, to wit: Article 1, Section 9, Florida Constitution.

Admittedly the Respondent did not specifically rely on Article 1, Section 9, in presenting his argument at the trial level or in his Appellate Briefs. However, it should not be overlooked that the State of Florida did not raise its Fifth Amendment argument under the five-to-four majority decision in <u>Davis</u>, supra, until it filed its initial Motion for Rehearing in response to Respondent's favorable decision before the Fifth DCA.

Judge Kogan, in his concurring opinion in <u>Bouters v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S187, 188, remarked that he would analyze the

-4-

<u>Bouters</u> case "entirely under the Florida Constitution in keeping with the doctrine of primacy announced in <u>Travlor V. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992)." At least in Judge Kogan's recent opinion the <u>Travlor</u>, supra, pronouncement about the admissibility of confession remains the law of Florida.

This Court's decision in <u>Travlor</u>, supra, is not the first time that its pronouncement did not follow a Federal test. In <u>State v. Kinchen</u>, 490 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1985), this Court refused to abandon "the fairly susceptible" standard previously set by the Court in favor of adopting the less demanding Federal test concerning comments on a Defendant's failure to testify.

It is also submitted that the five-to-four divided Court in <u>Davis</u>, supra, is not the "persuasive authority and practical reasoning" as advanced by the State, but was an opinion that expressed diverse views of all the sitting justices of the U.S. Supreme Court.

There is no compelling argument that this Court's well reasoned opinion in <u>Travlor</u>, supra, should be re-examined in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>Davis</u>, supra. The State had previously requested the Fifth DCA to certify this question as of great public importance and for this Honorable Court to revisit this issue in conjunction with the decision in Davis, supra. The District Court declined the invitation.

-5-

POINT II

THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DCA AND ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OR OF THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

Respondent does not take issue with the rule that constitutional errors which do not raise to the level of fundamental error are waived unless timely objected to at trial. It is the Respondent's position; (1) That under the circumstances of this case the Respondent's objection before the trial court properly preserved the issue for Appellate review; (2) That Respondent's exercise of his right to remain silent was a constitutional fundamental due process right that could be considered on appeal even though no specific objection had been raised in the trial court; and (3) That the consideration and application of the principle of law set forth in <u>Travlor</u>, supra, to this case by the Fifth DCA was warranted.

In <u>Hopkins v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994) this Court was called upon to review a decision of the First DCA which in part had concluded the Defendant's general objection at the trial was not adequate to preserve the issue for Appellate review, this Court stated:

> [3] "In the instant case, the district held that Hopkins' "very court general objection," which was "'couched in terms of a confrontation rights argument," was not sufficient to preserve for review the issue of whether the trial court's finding satisfied requirements of section 92.54(5). the Hopkins, 608 So.2d at 36 (quoting the State's characterization of the objection). Prior to child's testimony by closed circuit the television, Hopkins' defense counsel made the following objection:

I would like to renew my previous objection objecting to this witness be[ing] allowed to testify outside of the presence of the jury and outside of the presence of Mr. Hopkins. And also object to [our] not being present to the jury to receive their reactions at the time that they view this testimony outside the presence-

[4] Under the circumstances of this case, we find that this objection properly preserved the issue for Appellate review. Although the objection did not specifically address the sufficiency of the factual findings under section 92.54, it properly raised the issue of Hopkins' constitutional right "to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend VI; see also art. I, S 16(a), Fla. Const. ("In all criminal prosecutions the accused. ... shall have the right...to confront at trial adverse witnesses...").

In Williams v. State, 611 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) the State argued that the Defendant had failed to preserve his right to Appeal the <u>Bruton</u> issue because he had failed to object at trial under the <u>Bruton</u> rule. The Appellate court responded:

> "The transcript of the trial concerning this issue is at best confusing and at worst a mess. Some statements by the attorneys are unintelligible apparently because of being inaccurately or mistakenly reported and transcribed. It is true that Bruton as such not mentioned. is It is evident to us however, that appellant's trial counsel was clearly expressing objections to the admission of Hill's confession because appellant had been denied the right to cross-examine and confront his co-defendant confessor. The state simply argued, and convinced the trial judge, that the 1990 amendment to section 90.804(2)(c) eliminated any such objection without regard to the overriding principle that a statute cannot abrogate an accused's constitutional right."

The decisions in both Hopkins and Williams, supra,

established a clear and rational support for the conclusion that under the circumstances of this case the Respondent's trial objections properly preserved the issue for Appellate review.

Furthermore, it was the State of Florida that took a fortuitous advantage by raising the decision by the Davis, Court, for the Appellate Court's consideration just days before being jurisdictionally foreclosed from arguing the decision. In fact the <u>Davis</u> case was never argued by the State in its Appellate Brief or at oral argument which was held on December 6, 1994, notwithstanding the fact the <u>Davis</u> opinion was issued on June 24, 1994. The first mention of the <u>Davis</u>, decision was contained in the State's initial Motion for Rehearing filed on December 28, 1994.

Terminally, under the facts and circumstances of this case the Fifth DCA was correct in applying the principle of law announced in <u>Traylor</u> to the facts and issues of this case "in the interest of justice" to which Respondent was entitled.

-8-

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should refuse to take discretionary jurisdiction because the decision of the Fifth DCA was decided under the doctrine of stare decisis in applying this Court's opinion in <u>Traylor</u>, supra, to the issue presented. Secondly, the decision of the Fifth DCA is not in conflict with any decisions by this Court or sister district Court's of Appeal. Therefore, it is submitted that this Court should not exercise is discretionary jurisdictional in this matter.